Loma Linda University

TheScholarsRepository@LLU: Digital Archive of Research, Scholarship & Creative Works

Loma Linda University Electronic Theses, Dissertations & Projects

6-1998

Does the Oswestry or SF-36 Help a Therapist to Predict Treatment Classification

Amy Crawford

Denese D. Kaufeldt-Soliz

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsrepository.llu.edu/etd

Part of the Biostatistics Commons, Clinical Trials Commons, and the Physical Therapy Commons

Recommended Citation

Crawford, Amy and Kaufeldt-Soliz, Denese D., "Does the Oswestry or SF-36 Help a Therapist to Predict Treatment Classification" (1998). *Loma Linda University Electronic Theses, Dissertations & Projects*. 798. https://scholarsrepository.llu.edu/etd/798

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by TheScholarsRepository@LLU: Digital Archive of Research, Scholarship & Creative Works. It has been accepted for inclusion in Loma Linda University Electronic Theses, Dissertations & Projects by an authorized administrator of TheScholarsRepository@LLU: Digital Archive of Research, Scholarship & Creative Works. For more information, please contact scholarsrepository@llu.edu.



UNIVERSITY LIBRARY LOMA LINDA, CALIFORNIA

LOMA LINDA UNIVERSITY

School of Allied Health Professions

DOES THE OSWESTRY OR SF-36 HELP A THERAPIST TO PREDICT TREATMENT CLASSIFICATION

by

Amy Crawford and Denese D. Kaufeldt-Soliz

A Publishable Paper in Lieu of a Thesis

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for

the Degree Doctor of Physical Therapy

June 1998

Each person whose signature appears below certifies that this publishable paper in their opinion is adequate, in scope and quality, as a publishable paper in lieu of a thesis for the degree Doctor of Physical Therapy.

Chairman, Department of Physical Therapy Edd J. A

Chairperson

Grenith J. Zimmerman Professor of Biostatistics

Joseph Godges, Instructor in Physical Therapy

James Syms, Instructor in Physical Therapy

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to acknowledge Joseph Godges for his continuous assistance, commitment and guidance and Dr. Grenith Zimmerman for helping us pull it all together. Also, we would like to acknowledge Cal-PT Funds for the grant which provided us with financial assistance. Finally, we would like to thank our husbands for their patience and understanding.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
1.	Abstract	1
2.	Introduction	2
3.	Methodology	3
4.	Interrater reliability study	3
5.	Subjects	3
6.	Instruments/tools	4
7.	Procedures	7
8.	Data analysis	7
9.	Results	8
10.	Discussion	13
11.	Conclusion	15
12.	References	16
13.	Appendix A	20
14.	Appendix B	

LIST OF TABLES

Ta	Able Page
1.	Distribution of gender and level of impairment
2.	Comparison of mean transformed scores from the Oswestry and MOS SF-36 among
	the three treatment groups10
3.	Comparison of mean self-reported scores from the Oswestry and MOS SF-36 among
	the three treatment groups

ABSTRACT

DOES THE OSWESTRY OR SF-36 HELP A THERAPIST TO PREDICT TREATMENT CLASSIFICATION

Denese Kaufeldt-Soliz, Amy Crawford, and Joseph Godges

The purpose of this study was to determine the relationship of two disability questionnaires, the Oswestry Low Back Pain Disability Questionnaire (Oswestry) and the Medical Outcome Study Short Form-36 (SF-36), and a standardized physical examination and diagnostic classification system. The physical examination was performed by the evaluating therapists from the clinic and classification was determined by the evaluating therapists and the investigators to ensure correct subject placement into treatment Stages Ia, Ib, or II. Data collection occurred at an outpatient physical therapy clinic in a metropolitan area health maintenance organization, where a sample of 221 subjects with low back pain were obtained. Once the questionnaires were completed by the subjects, the ten items on the Oswestry and the eight items on the SF-36 were then scored by the investigators. Step-wise discriminent analysis was utilized to determine which items from the two self reporting questionnaires could predict the physical therapist assigned treatment classification. When classifying into Stage I versus Stage II, correct treatment classification could be predicted 83.6% of the time using four sub-scores (pain intensity, general health, role-physical, and sleeping). The predictability, utilizing all the sub-scores, was 87.9%. When classifying into category Ib versus Ia and II, classification into Stage Ib with the sub-scores of pain intensity and traveling had a 92.9% predictability rate. Key Words: low back pain, assessment, Oswestry, SF-36, treatment classification,

subjective exams.

Low back pain affects the majority of the adult population at some time during their life and problems associated with the low back are the most common cause of disability in adults under the age of 45¹. Patients with low back problems are commonly referred to physical therapists for evaluation and treatment. Delitto et al.² suggests that physical therapy treatment for patients with low back disorders was most efficacious if the treatment was based on data gathered during the history and physical examination. Included in the history, as described by Delitto et al.² and Jette and Jette³, is the use of standardized questionnaires.

Delitto et al.² purported that scores obtained from a commonly used questionnaire, the Oswestry , can assist the physical therapist in determining the treatment classification. Patients with Oswestry scores above 40 receive one of five Stage I treatments. The type of Stage I treatment is determined by the physical examination. Patients with Oswestry scores between 20 and 40 are thought to be less disabled and fit the criteria to receive Stage II treatments. Generally, patients who fit Stage II categories have less irritable symptoms. Accordingly, they may attend group back education and exercise instruction. Patients who have Oswestry scores of less than 20, according to Delitto, are thought to be the least disabled and fit the criteria to receive Stage III treatments. The focus on Stage III intervention is on endurance training for occupational or recreational specific activities.² The correlation between reported disabilities and physical examination findings, diagnostic categorization, or pathological processes has not been studied directly.⁴

The purpose of this study was to determine the relationship of two disability

questionnaires and a standardized physical examination and diagnostic classification system. The specific research question was: Does an Oswestry score or an SF-36 score predict treatment classification?

Methodology

Interrater Reliability Study

The researchers conducted a preliminary study to determine the interrater reliability of the objective examination. This study included five evaluators or raters and data was collected on thirty subjects with the same inclusion/exclusion criteria as listed in the *subjects* section. Each subject was evaluated by two of the five evaluators. A Chi-square test was utilized to determine if there was a significant difference for the matched versus no match of the treatment groups. The evaluators were able to classify patients into treatment groups on 87% of the samples.

Subjects

Data collection occurred for a 12 month period from March 1,1997 to March 1,1998. The site of data collection was an outpatient physical therapy clinic in a metropolitan area health maintenance organization. Data was collected on 221 persons receiving physician referral for low back examination and treatment who were scheduled and obtained their initial physical therapy evaluation on Wednesday afternoons. This study was based on data normally collected by the evaluating physical therapist involved in the examination and treatment of low back pain patients in this clinic. No patient contact occurred by the investigators.

Instrument/ Tools

The Oswestry questionnaire is a self reporting questionnaire designed to quantify the degree of functional limitations in the following ten areas: pain intensity, personal care, lifting, walking, sitting, standing, sleeping, sex life, social life, and in travel. Oswestry scores have demonstrated a strong reliability in determining the degree of disability in individuals experiencing low back pain. Oswestry scores are also a reliable indicator of the degree of disability an individual might be experiencing that is directly related to low back pain.^{5,6,7,8,9,10} The Oswestry score for each subject was determined using the method described by Fairbanks et al.¹¹. The Oswestry has ten sections, with each section having a possible score from 0 to 5. If all ten sections are scored by the subject, the sum of the ten sections is obtained and multiplied by two to get a final score ranging from 0 to 100. If less than ten sections are scored by the subject, the sum of the scored sections are obtained, divided by the total possible sum of the sections scored, and then multiplied by 100 to obtain a correct percentage. Each Oswestry score is given a specific disability interpretation. Persons with scores from 0 to 20 are classified as minimally disabled, 21 to 40 as moderately disabled, 41 to 60 as severely disabled, 61 to 80 as crippled, and 81 to 100 as bed bound or as having additional psychological components. Raw data regarding the number of subjects and level of disability is provided in Table 2.

The SF-36 was given to determine the general health status of an individual. It was designed to address eight core health attributes which fall under three aspects of health ¹². The three aspects are functional ability, well being, and overall health. The eight health attributes are as follows: "limitations in physical activities because of health problems", "limitations in social activities because of physical or emotional problems", "limitations in usual role activities because of physical health problems", "bodily pain", "general mental health", "limitations in usual role activities because of emotional problems", "vitality", and "general health perceptions".¹³ The SF-36 has demonstrated reliability in measuring the general health status of persons.^{13,14} It has also been shown to be a reliable self-reporting questionnaire.¹² The SF-36 is scored and interpreted separately for each section as directed by the MOS trust. Each item is given a value from 1 to 6. Scores from each item in each section are totaled. The higher the score, the higher the level of functioning of the patient. Specific items for each concept are examined independently.

The physical examination in this study was designed to determine the presence and extent of impairment, measurements of neurological status, mobility of the spine, mobility of the pelvic girdle, pain related to movement of the spine, pelvic girdle positional symmetry, sacroiliac ligament tenderness, muscle/nerve flexibility, muscle strength, coordination, and body mechanics. Individuals who receive the Stage I treatment classification have (1) symptoms which centralize or peripheralize with repeated movements, ^{15,16} or (2) physical examination findings which purportedly respond to manipulation.^{2,17,18} Individuals who receive the Stage II treatment classification have only

flexibility, strength, or coordination deficits. In this study, mobility of the spine and pain assessment with single and repetitive movement of the spine was based on the McKenzie and the Delitto et al physical examination.¹⁹ This type of evaluation has been found to have a poor intertester reliability ²⁰, but good test-retest reliability.^{20,21}

In our study, a patient received the stage Ia classification if the physical examination revealed that his/her low back symptoms either: 1) increased in intensity upon initiation of standing active movements of sidebending, flexion, or extension; or 2) the location of the symptoms changed with repeated movements of flexion, extension, lateral shift right, or lateral shift left (i.e., the symptoms centralize or peripheralize). Depending upon the physical examination findings, the patients who received Stage Ia classification were placed into one of the following treatment categories: flexion exercises, extension exercises, lateral shift procedures, or stabilization procedures. Stage Ib classification is the mobilization /manipulation procedures category. A patient received this category if the physical examination revealed that 1) his/her low back symptoms increased at the end range of sidebending left or sidebending right, or 2) he/she had two out of three physical examination findings suggesting a sacroiliac disorder including an innominate movement disorder and ligament tenderness and he/she did not fit the Stage Ia classification. A patient received the Stage II classification if his/her symptoms were either painfree or the location of the symptoms did not change with repeated active movements of standing flexion or extension and he/she did not fit the criteria to be placed in either the Stage Ia or Stage Ib categories. In summary, patients who fitted the Stage Ia category had physical

examination findings suggesting that they were the most symptomatic and patients who fitted the Stage II category had physical examination findings suggesting that they were the least symptomatic.

Procedures

All forms were collected by the evaluating therapist at the outpatient physical therapy clinic and forwarded to the investigators. Forms collected included the Oswestry questionnaire, SF-36 Survey and the physical impairment examination for each subject. The investigators blacked out the subjects names on all forms to maintain confidentiality and each subject was given a number and gender identity. The investigators individually read the objective evaluation to determine the treatment classification to be sure that both the investigators and the evaluating therapist from the physical therapy clinic agreed on the treatment classification.

Data Analysis

According to Hinkle and Oliver²² the minimum sample size needed for the type of data analysis used for this study is 208 subjects. The sample size of this study had a power of 95% to reject the null hypothesis at the 0.05 level of significance. The ten items on the Oswestry questionnaire and the eight items on the SF-36 survey were then scored and data was entered into the computer utilizing the SPSS 7.5 statistical package²³ to determine their ability to predict and classify the subject into the treatment classification assigned by

7

the investigators and the evaluating therapist from the outpatient clinic. Step-wise discriminent analysis was utilized to determine predictability of the physical therapists assigned treatment classification from the Oswestry Scale and/or SF-36 Survey. The independent variables were the Oswestry scores and the SF-36 Survey scores. The dependent variable was the treatment classification into Stage Ia, Ib, or II.

Results

Stratification by Treatment Group Classification

Table 1 shows the distribution of gender as well as the level of impairment of the subjects. Of the subjects 42.1%(93) were male and 57.9% (128) were female. The mean age was 47 years old (SD = 13.0 years, minimum = 18, maximum = 73).

		Count	Percent
Gender			
Male		93	42.1
Female		128	57.9
Level of Impa	irment		
Minimum	(0-20)	96	43.6
Moderate	(21-40)	69	31.4
Severe	(41-60)	47	21.4
Crippled	(61-80)	7	3.2
Bedbound	(81-100)	1	.5

 Table 1. Distribution of Gender and Level of Impairment

This study had a sample of 221 subjects. Data from seventeen subjects was not utilized due to the fact that they were missing one or more of the discriminating subscores. Of the 204 subjects used in data analysis, there were 61 subjects classified into treatment Stage Ia, 112 subjects in treatment Stage Ib, and 31 subjects in treatment Stage II. Analysis of variance was used to compare means among the three treatment

group classifications (Ia, Ib, II). All ten transformed sub-scores in the Oswestry questionnaire were significantly different among the three group's means (Table 2). For each sub-score the means in group Ia were larger than Ib, with group II having the lowest mean value, with the exception of the sub-score social life, where the reverse was seen. The transformed scores were calculated using the given values (0-5 on the Oswestry and 1-6 on the SF-36) using the designated equations discussed in the instrument section. For the MOS SF-36 sub-scores, physical functioning, role-physical, bodily pain, and social functioning showed statistically significant differences among Stages with all means in Stage Ia smaller than Ib, Stage II having the largest means with the exception of the subscore social functioning, where the reverse was seen. Analysis of the self reported questionnaire values gave similar results (Table 3). By using the self reported values a clinician would be able to place a patient into treatment classifications. For example, the larger the self reported Oswestry sub-score, the more likely that the patient will be placed in Stage I categories and receive the appropriate intervention. Thus, if a patient rated his/her pain intensity as 3 and traveling as 3, then he/she would likely be placed into Stage Ia treatment category. If he/she rated pain intensity as 1 and traveling as 1, he/she would likely be placed in the least Stage II treatment category. The values would not have to be calculated in order to reach a specific category, only compared with Table 3.

		Ia	Ib	II	P-value
		Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	
Os	westry				
1.	Pain Intensity	51.5 (<u>+</u> 31.2)	41.4 (<u>+</u> 33.2)	25.6 (<u>+</u> 24.0)	.001
2.	Personal Care	21.6 (±25.0)	10.6 (±16.3)	3.6 (<u>+</u> 10.6)	.000
3.	Lifting	55.0 (<u>+</u> 27.1)	38.6 (<u>+</u> 28.0)	33.9 (<u>+</u> 27.6)	.000
4.	Walking	30.2 (<u>+</u> 27.2)	17.4 (<u>+</u> 21.9)	9.7 (<u>+</u> 20.7)	.000
5.	Sitting	38.3 (<u>+</u> 28.0)	28.7 (<u>+</u> 25.2)	18.2 (<u>+</u> 22.6)	.001
6.	Standing	41.2 (<u>+</u> 26.5)	28.6 (<u>+</u> 24.4)	23.1 (<u>+</u> 25.5)	.001
7.	Sleeping	29.9 (<u>+</u> 27.6)	20.3 (<u>+</u> 29.8)	5.3 (<u>+</u> 12.8)	.000
8.	Sex Life	32.5 (±30.2)	20.0 (<u>+</u> 30.0)	13.3 (<u>+</u> 20.0)	.004
9.	Social Life	50.3 (<u>+</u> 26.6)	67.7 (<u>+</u> 25.8)	76.1 (<u>+</u> 21.3)	.000
10.	Traveling	38.0 (<u>+</u> 28.2)	21.2 (<u>+</u> 21.6)	11.3 (<u>+</u> 17.6)	.000
MC	OS SF-36				
1.	Physical Functioning	44.1 (<u>+</u> 27.7)	58.0 (<u>+</u> 24.8)	67.5 (<u>+</u> 23.4)	.000
2.	Role-Physical	25.4 (<u>+</u> 33.9)	34.0 (<u>+</u> 39.8)	51.4 (<u>+</u> 42.0)	.006
3.	Bodily Pain	26.1 (±18.4)	38.5 (<u>+</u> 20.3)	44.3 (<u>+</u> 18.4)	.000
4.	General Health	65.6 (<u>+</u> 21.5)	67.9 (<u>+</u> 21.1)	63.2 (<u>+</u> 17.9)	.471
5.	Vitality	47.8 (<u>+</u> 20.2)	50.6 (<u>+</u> 21.5)	51.0 (<u>+</u> 19.4)	.649
6.	Social Functioning	41.6 (<u>+</u> 28.4)	25.01 (<u>+</u> 26.0)	17.6 (<u>+</u> 21.7)	.000
7.	Role-Emotional	56.4 (<u>+</u> 41.7)	56.3 (<u>+</u> 44.4)	65.7 (<u>+</u> 43.2)	.502
8.	Mental Health	63.5 (<u>+</u> 20.5)	68.6 (<u>+</u> 18.2)	71.0 (±16.1)	.096

Table 2. Comparison of Mean Transformed Scores for the Oswestry and MOSSF-36 among the Three Treatment Stages

	ana ang mang mang mang mang sang na mang mang na mang n Ng	Ia	Ib	II	p-value
		Means (SD)	Means (SD)	Means (SD)	
Os	westry				
1.	Pain Intensity	2.6 (<u>+</u> 1.6)	2.1 (<u>+</u> 1.7)	1.3 (±1.2)	.001
2.	Personal Care	1.1 (±1.3)	.5 (<u>+</u> .8)	.2 (<u>+</u> .5)	.000
3.	Lifting	2.8 (±1.4)	1.9 (<u>+</u> 1.4)	1.7 (±1.4)	.000
4.	Walking	1.5 (±1.4)	.9 (±1.1)	.5 (±1.0)	.000
5.	Sitting	2.0 (±1.4)	1.4 (<u>+</u> 1.4)	.9 (±1.1)	.001
6.	Standing	2.0 (±1.3)	1.4 (<u>+</u> 1.2)	1.2 (±1.3)	.001
7.	Sleeping	1.5 (<u>+</u> 1.4)	1.0 (±1.5)	.3 (<u>+</u> .6)	.000
8.	Sex Life	1.7 (<u>+</u> 1.5)	1.0 (±1.3)	.7 (±1.0)	.002
9.	Social Life	2.1 (±1.4)	1.3 (±1.3)	.9 (±1.1)	.000
10.	Traveling	1.9 (±1.4)	1.1 (±1.1)	.6 (<u>+</u> .9)	.000
MC	DS SF-36				
1.	Physical Functioning	18.4 (<u>+</u> 5.8)	21.7 (±5.1)	23.5 (<u>+</u> 4.7)	0
2.	Role-Physical	5.0 (±1.4)	5.4 (<u>+</u> 1.6)	6.1 (<u>+</u> 1.7)	.006
3.	Bodily Pain	4.6 (±1.8)	5.8 (±2.1)	6.4 (<u>+</u> 1.8)	.000
4.	General Health	18.2 (<u>+</u> 4.1)	18.6 (<u>+</u> 4.2)	18.0 (<u>+</u> 3.1)	.699
5.	Vitality	13.6 (<u>+</u> 4.0)	14.1 (<u>+</u> 4.3)	14.2 (<u>+</u> 3.9)	.644
6.	Social Functioning	6.1 (<u>+</u> 2.1)	7.4 (±2.1)	8.1 (<u>+</u> 1.7)	.000
7.	Role-Emotional	4.7 (<u>+</u> 1.3)	4.7 (±1.3)	5.0 (<u>+</u> 1.3)	.558
8.	Mental Health	20.9 (<u>+</u> 5.1)	22.1 (±4.5)	22.5 (<u>+</u> 4.2)	.155

 Table 3. Comparison of Mean Self Reported Scores for the Oswestry and MOS SF-36 among the Three Treatment Stages

Predictability Using All or Some of the Variables of the Oswestry and SF-36 for

Treatment Stage Classification

When all of the transformed sub-scores from the Oswestry and the SF-36 were entered into the discriminent analysis process, and the three stages of treatment classification were compared, 65.38% of cases that were correctly classified into one of the three treatment Stages. Utilizing all of the transformed sub-scores of the two scales, 51.1% (23) of the cases for Stage Ia were correctly classified, 80.7% (71) of the cases for Stage Ib were correctly classified, and 34.8% (8) of the cases for Stage II were correctly classified. With the Step-wise method 59.31% of the cases were correctly classified based on two sub-scores (pain intensity and traveling).

An equation was derived that could determine classification into Stage I versus Stage II at an 83.6% predictability rate. The equation utilizing the step-wise method, would be; D treatment classification I versus II = -2.334 + (pain intensity)(.019) + (general health)(.024) + (role-physical)(-.012) + (sleeping)(.018). Once a score is obtained then a treatment stage classification can be determined into Stage I or Stage II. Utilizing this equation, if the score, rounded to the nearest whole number, equals (+/-) 1 the treatment stage would be Stage I and if the score, rounded to the nearest whole number, equals (+/-) 1 the treatment stage would be Stage II. Then a further step is taken to differentiate Ia versus Ib. The equation utilizing the step-wise method, would be;

 $D_{\text{treatment classification la versus Ib} = -1.112 + \text{social life (.037)}$. Utilizing this equation, if the score, rounded to the nearest whole number, equals (+/-) 1 the treatment would be Stage Ia and if the score, rounded to the nearest whole number, equals (+/-) 2 the treatment stage would be Ib. This equation has a 66.7% predictability rate for classification into Ia versus Ib. Utilizing the step-wise method, 27.9% (17) of the cases of group IA were correctly classified, 92.9% (104) of the cases of group IB were correctly classified, and 0% (0) of the cases of group II were correctly classified. This could be due to smaller sample sizes in treatment Stage Ia and Stage II. The Step-wise method gave a higher percentage of

correct classifications into treatment Stage Ib and a higher percentage of misclassifications into treatment Stages Ia and II. There was also a high percentage of misclassification into Stage Ia and II utilizing all the subscores to determine treatment classification.

Discussion

The purpose of this study was to determine if the Oswestry and/or SF-36 self reporting questionnaires could be utilized to predict the treatment classification of a patient with the use of all or some of the sub-scores. If a patients level of symptoms could be determined through the use of a questionnaire, this would assist the therapist in more accurately determining the treatment stage and thus guide intervention. Thus, a particular patient at a specific stage in an episode of low back pain would receive the most appropriate intervention, e.g.; education, activity modification, spinal manipulation, specific therapeutic exercises, general conditioning exercises, or endurance training.

Eighteen variables were considered as possible predictors of treatment classification. These variables included the ten items on the Oswestry (pain intensity, personal care, lifting, walking, sitting, standing, sleeping, sex life, social life, and traveling) and the eight items on the SF-36 (physical functioning, role-physical, bodily pain, general health, vitality, social functioning, role-emotional, and mental health). Our results, utilizing Step-wise discriminent analysis, indicated that with the use of pain intensity, general health, role-emotional, and sleeping an equations could be derived that would classify into Stage I versus Stage II at a 83.6% predictability rate. To further classify into stage Ia versus Ib, utilizing step-wise discriminent analysis, an equation was derived using only the sub-score of social life; which resulted in a 66.7% predictability rate.

Utilizing all the sub-scores, we were able to formulate two equations, one that would predict treatment classification into I versus II 87.9% of the time and one that would predict treatment classification into Ia versus Ib 75.9% of the time, indicating a fair to good level of accuracy for classification into treatment Stages. These equations present with greater accuracy than in the step-wise discriminent analysis, however, they are so extensive that it would not be feasible to use them in the clinic due to time restraints. This ability to predict classification suggests that this equation could be used in addition to the physical assessment for the purposes of obtaining accurate treatment classification at the time of the initial examination.

In addition, giving the clinician the ability to use the table on the actual self reporting sub-score values (Table 3) would assist in determination of treatment stage, though it would not give a specific percentage of predictability. This would be true due to the consistent trends revealed in Table 3. The sub-scores on the Oswestry, going from Stage Ia to II, decrease from greater to lesser values. The sub-scores on the SF-36, with the exception of general health, increase from lesser to greater values. For example, if all the sub-scores on the Oswestry were above 3, it could be predicted that the patient would begin treatment in Stage Ia.

The results of our study suggest that it is possible to predict treatment classification with the use of the Oswestry and SF-36 in specific parts or as a whole to determine treatment classification. In addition, classification into treatment Stage Ib would be consistent the majority of the time, in our study over 50% of the subjects fell into this category. Further research is indicated to standardize muscle and nerve flexibility testing, muscle strength testing, and coordination testing.

Conclusion

This study, however, provides an additional tool to assist the clinician in appropriate treatment classification. Generalizability of the findings is limited by the fact that this study utilized a convenience sampling of members assigned to a Health Maintenance Organization Health System.

References

- Bigos S, Bowyer O, Braen G, et al. Acute low back problems in adults. Clinical Practice Guidelines No. 14. AHCPR Publication No. 95-0642. Rockville, MD: Agency for Health Care Policy and Research, Public Health Service, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. December 1994
- 2. Delitto A, Erhard RE, Bowling RW. A treatment-based classification approach to low back syndrome: identifying and staging patients for conservative treatment. *Phys Ther.* 1995; 75: 470-489.
- 3. Jette DU, Jette AM. Physical therapy and health outcomes in patients with spinal impairments. *Phys Ther.* 1996; 76: 930 945.
- Leclaire R, Blier F, Fortin L, Proulx R. A Cross-Sectional Study Comparing the Oswestry and Roland-Morris Functional Disability Scales in Two Populations of Patients With Low Back Pain of Different Levels of Severity. *Spine*. 1997; 22:1: 68-71.
- 5. Bolton JE, Christensen MN. Back pain distribution patterns: relationship to subjective measures of pain severity and disability. *J Manipulative Physiol Ther*. 1994: 17(4): 211 8.
- Co YY, Baton S, Maxwell MW. The relationship between the St. Thomas and Oswestry scores and the severity of low back pain. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 1993; 16(1): 14 - 8.
- 7. DiFabio RP, Mackey G, Holte JB. Disability and functional status in patients with low back pain receiving workers' compensation: a descriptive study with implications for the efficacy of physical therapy. *Phys Ther.* 1995; 75(3): 180 93.
- 8. Hsieh CY, Phillips RB, Adams AH, Pope MH. Functional outcomes of low back pain: comparison of four treatment groups in a randomized controlled trial. *J Manipulative Physiol Ther.* 1992; 15(1): 4 9.
- Little DG, MacDonald D. The use of the percentage change in Oswestry Disability Index score as an outcome measure in lumbar spinal surgery. Spine. 1994; 19(19): 2139 - 43.
- 10. Vernon H. Pain and Disability Questionnaires in Chiropractic Rehabilitation. Rehabilitation of the Spine. Williams and Wilkins. USA, 1996.
- 11. Fairbank JCT, Davies JB, Couper J, O'Brien JP. The Oswestry low back pain disability questionnaire. *Physiotherapy*. 1980; 66(8): 271-3.
- Grevitt M, Khazim R, Webb J, Mulholland R, Shepperd J. The Short Form 36 Health Survey Questionnaire in Spoin Surgery. *J Bone Joint Surg.* 1997; 79-B: 48-52.
- Ware JE, Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-Item Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36). Med Care. 1992; 30: 473-83.
- 14. Stewart AL, Hays RD, Ware JE. The MOS Short-form General Health Survey. Med Care. 1988; 26(7): 724-35.
- 15. Donelson R, Silva G, Murphy K. Centralization phenomenon its usefulness in

evaluating and treating referred pain. Spine. 1990; 15(3): 211-3.

- 16. Donelson R, Grant W, Kamps C, Medcalf R. Pain response to sagittal end-range spinal motion. *Spine*. 1991; 16(6): S206-S212.
- 17. Erhard RE, Delitto A, Cibulka MT. Relative effectiveness of an extension program and a combined program of manipulation and flexion and extension exercises in patients with acute low back syndrome. *Phys Ther.* 1994; 74: 1093-1100.
- 18. Delitto A, Cibulka MT, Erhard RE, Bowling RW, Tenhula JA. Evidence for use of an extension-mobilization category in acute low back syndrome: a prescriptive validation pilot study. *Phys Ther.* 1993; 73: 216-228.
- Riddle DL, Rothstein JM. Intertester reliability of McKenzie's classifications of the syndrome types present in patients with low back pain. *Spine*. 1993; 18(10): 1333-1344.
- 20. Beurskens AJ, deVet HC, Koke AJ, van der Heijden GJ, Knipschild PG. Measuring the functional status of patients with low back pain. Assessment of the quality of four disease-specific questionnaires. *Spine*. 1995; 20(9) : 1017 - 28.
- 21. Triano JJ, McGregor M, Cramer GD, Emde DL. A comparison of outcome measures for use with back pain patients: results of a feasibility study. *J Manipulative Physiol Ther.* 1993; 16(2): 67 - 73.
- 22. Hinkle DE and Oliver JD. How Large Should the Sample Be? A Question with No Simple Answer? Or, *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 43, (1983), pp. 1051-1060.
- Statistical Package for Social Sciences, version 7.5. SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL. 1997.
- 24. Herzog W, et al. Reliability of motion palpation procedures to detect sacroiliac joint fixations. *J Manipulative Physiol Ther.* 1989; 12(2): 86-92.
- 25. McCombe PF, Fairbank JCT, Cockersole BC, Pynsent PB. Reproducibility of physical signs in low-back pain. *Spine*. 1989; 14(9): 908-17.
- 26. Beurskens AJ, deVet HC, Koke AJ. Responsiveness of Functional Status in Low Back Pain : A Comparison of Different Instruments. *PAIN*. 1996; 65: 71-76.
- 27. Delitto A. Are measures of function and disability important in low back care? *Phys Ther.* 1994; 74: 452-62.
- Delitto A, Shulman AD, Rose SJ. On developing expert-based decision-support systems in physical therapy: The NIOSH low back atlas. *Phys Ther.* 1989; 69: 554-8.
- Frost H, Klaber-Moffett JA, Moser JS, Fairbank JC. Randomised controlled trial for evaluation of fitness programme for patients with chronic low back pain. *BMJ*. 1995; 310(6973): 151 - 4.
- Godges J, Kaufeldt-Soliz D, Crawford A. Interrater reliability of a comprehensive examination to determine presence and extent of impairment measurements in patients with low back pain. 1998.
- 31. Godges J, Kumagai K, Ries J. Physical Therapy Management of Patients with Low Back Pain and Lumber Related Lower Extremity Symptoms. Kaiser

Permanente, Los Angeles. 1996.

- 32. Greenough CG, Fraser Rd. Assessment of outcome in patients with low-back pain. *Spine*. 1992; 17(1): 36 41.
- Grevitt MP, McLaren A, Shackleford IM, Mulholland RC. Automated percutaneous lumbar discectomy. An outcome study. *J Bone Joint Surg Br.* 1995; 77(4): 626 - 9.
- Haas M, Jacobs GE, Raphael R, Petzing K. Low back pain outcome measurement assessment in chiropractic teaching clinics: responsiveness and applicability of two functional disability questionnaires. *J Manipulative Physiol Ther.* 1995; 18(2): 19 - 87.
- 35. Haas M, Nyiendo J. Diagnostic utility of the McGill Pain Questionnaire and the Oswestry Disability Questionnaire for classification of low back pain syndromes. *J Manipulative Physiol Ther.* 1992; 15(2): 90 - 8.
- HaKim RM, Gruen GS, Delitto A. Outcomes of patients with pelvic-ring fractures managed by open reduction internal fixation. *Phys Ther.* 1996; 76(3): 286 - 95.
- Herno A, Airaksinen O, Saari T. Computed tomography after laminectomy for lumbar spinal stenosis. Patients pain patterns, walking capacity, and subjective disability had no correlation with computed tomography findings. *Spine*. 1994; 19(17): 1975 - 8.
- Herno A, Airaksinen O, Saari T, Sihvonen T. Surgical results of lumbar spinal stenosis. A comparison of patients with or without previous back surgery. Spine. 1995; 20(8): 964 - 9.
- Kaplan GM, Wurtele SK, Gillis D. Maximal effort during functional capacity evaluations: an examination of psychological factors. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1996; 77(2): 161 - 4.
- 40. Kopec JA, et al. The Quebec Back Pain Disability Scale. Measurement properties. *Spine*. 1995; 20(3): 341 52.
- 41. Lancourt J, Kettelhut M. Predicting return to work for lower back pain patients receiving worker's compensation. *Spine*. 1992; 17(6): 629 40.
- 42. Leclaire R, et al. Back school in a first episode of compensated acute low back pain: a clinical trial to assess efficacy and prevent relapse. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 1996; 77: 673 9.
- 43. Malmivaara A, et al. The treatment of acute low back pain -- bed rest, exercises, or ordinary activity? *N Engl J Med.* 1995; 332(6): 351 5.
- 44. Osterbauer PJ, DeBoer KF, Widmaier R, Petermann E, Fuhr AW. Treatment and biomechanical assessment of patients with chronic sacroiliac joint syndrome. *J Manipulative Physiol Ther.* 1993; 16(2): 82 - 90.
- 45. Rose SJ, Shulman AD, Strube MJ. Functional assessment of patients with low back syndrome. *Topics in Geri Rehabil.* 1986; 1(3): 9-30.
- 46. Sanderson PL, Todd BD, Holt GR, Getty CJ. Compensation, work status, and disability in low back pain patients. *Spine*. 1995; 20(5): 554 6.

- 47. Sihoven T, et al. Local denervation atrophy of paraspinal muscles in postoperative failed back syndrome. *Spine*. 1993; 18(5): 575 81.
- 48. Stratford PW, Binkley J, Solomon P, et al. Assessing change over time in patients with low back pain. *Phys Ther.* 1994; 74: 528-533.
- 49. Sullivan MS, Kues JM, Mayhew TP. Treatment Catagories For Low Back Pain : A Methodological Approach. *JOSPT*. 1996; 24:6: 359-364.
- 50. Tenhula JA, Rose SJ, Delitto A. Association betwen direction of lateral lumbar shift, movement tests, and side of symptoms in patients with low back pain syndrome. *Phys Ther.* 1990; 70: 480-6.

APPENDIX A

Oswestry Data Scoring Procedures for research on low back assessments

1. Assign values to all answers given

a. There are six possible answers in each of the ten sections (pain intensity, personal care, lifting, walking, sitting, standing, sleeping, sex life, social life, and traveling); the answers are numbered 1 - 6.

b. Values: 1 = 0, 2 = 1, 3 = 2, 4 = 3, 5 = 4, and 6 = 5

c. Give only one value per section; if more than one answer is marked, take the highest value.

2. For the purpose of this study, each section is to be scored individually. This value is determined by taking the highest value in each specific section and dividing by 5 then multiplying by 100%. (i.e.- a score of 4 in section 1 = 4/5 = .8 (100%) = 80%)

3. Normally the Oswestry is scored as a whole. All values are calculated together. (i.e. - if all sections were answered and resulted in a total score of 45; 45 would be divide by 50 = .9, then multiplied by 100% = 90%. If only 8 sections were answered, then the total value would by divided by the amount of sections answered multiplied by 5. So, (8)(5)=40. If the total score for the 8 sections = 32, the answer would = (32/40) X 100\% = 80\%.

4. Assigning disability level:

0 - 20% = Minimal Disability

21 -40% = Moderate Disability

41 - 60% = Severe Disability

61 - 80% = Crippled

81 - 100% = bed bound or symptoms exaggerated

MOS SF-36 scoring procedures for research on low back pain assessments

1. The SF-36 is made up of 8 main categories (general health, vitality, social functioning, role - emotional, mental health, role - physical, bodily pain, and physical functioning). The items are broken up into each of these 8 categories; with exception to item #2 which doesn't fall into any of these categories. It is reserved for reported health transition.

2.	Assign Values by Category
	Reported Health Transition
	Item #2 - answer value for 1=1, 2=2, 3=3, 4=4, and 5=5
	Mental Health
	Item # 9b, 9c, & 9f - answer value for 1=1, 2=2, 3=3, 4=4, 5=5, 6=6
	Item # 9d & 9h - answer value for 1=6, 2=5, 3=4, 4=3, 5=2, and 6=1

Role-Emotional
Item # 5a - 5c answer value for $1=1$ and $2=2$
Social Functioning
Item # 6 answer value for $1=5$, $2=4$, $3=3$, $4=2$, and $5=1$
Item #10 answer value for $1=1, 2=2, 3=3, 4=4, and 5=5$
Vitality
Item # 9a & 9e answer value for $1=6$, $2=5$, $3=4$, $4=3$, $5=2$, and $6=1$
Item # 9g & 9i answer value for $1=1, 2=2, 3=3, 4=4, 5=5$, and $6=6$
General Health
Item # 1 answer value for $1 = 5.0, 2 = 4.4, 3 = 3.4, 4 = 2.0, 5 = 1.0$
Item # 11a & 11c answer value for $1=1, 2=2, 3=3, 4=4, and 5=5$
Item # 11b & 11d answer value for $1=5, 2=4, 3=3, 4=2, and 5=1$
Bodily Pain
Item # 7 answer value for $1=6$, $2=5.4$, $3=4.2$, $4=3.1$, $5=2.2$, and $6=1$
Item # 8 answer value for (if 7 & 8 were answered 1 then 1 is valued at 6)
otherwise; 1=5, 2=4, 3=3, 4=2, and 5=1
Role - Physical
Item # 4a -4d answer value for 1=1 and 2=2
Physical Functioning
Item # $3a - 3j$ answer value for $1=1$, $2=2$, and $3=3$
2. Kow for value by Itom number
5. Key for value by Rem number $I_{\text{tarm}} = \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{1}{2\pi} \int \frac{1}{2\pi}$
Item # 1 answer value for $1 = 5.0$, $2 = 4.4$, $3 = 3.4$, $4 = 2.0$, $5 = 1.0$
Item #2 - answer value for $1=1, 2=2, 3=3, 4=4, and 5=5$
Item # $3a - 3j$ answer value for $1=1, 2=2, and 3=3$
Item # 4a -4d answer value for $I=1$ and $2=2$
Item # 5a - 5c answer value for $I=1$ and $2=2$
Item # 6 answer value for $1=5$, $2=4$, $3=3$, $4=2$, and $5=1$
Item # 7 answer value for $1=6$, $2=5.4$, $3=4.2$, $4=3.1$, $5=2.2$, and $6=1$
Item # 8 answer value for (if 7 & 8 were answered 1 then 1 is valued at 6)
otherwise; $1=5$, $2=4$, $3=3$, $4=2$, and $5=1$
Item # 9a, 9d, 9e, &9h answer value for $1=6$, $2=5$, $3=4$, $4=3$, $5=2$, and $6=1$
Item # 9b, 9c, 9f, 9g, $\&$ 9i - answer value for 1=1, 2=2, 3=3, 4=4, 5=5, 6=6
Item #10 answer value for $1=1, 2=2, 3=3, 4=4, and 5=5$
Item # 11a & 11c answer value for $1=1, 2=2, 3=3, 4=4, \text{ and } 5=5$
Item # 11b & 11d answer value for $1=5$, $2=4$, $3=3$, $4=2$, and $5=1$
4. Once all value are transformed, then a score is calculated by category as given above in
2. The formula for each category = $(actual raw score - lowest possible raw score)/$
possible raw score all multiplied by 100.

 $\frac{Physical Functioning}{20} = \frac{((3a+3b+3c+3d+3e+3f+3g+3h+3i+3j) - 10)}{20} X$

 $\underline{\textit{Role - Physical}}_{4} = \underline{((4a+4b+4c+4d) - 4)}_{4} \quad X \quad 100$

100

<u>Bodily Pain</u> = $((7+8) - 2)$ X 100		
10		
<u>General Health</u> = ((1+11a+11b+11c+11d) - 5)	X	100
20		
<u>Vitality</u> = $((9a+9e+9g+9i) - 4)$ X	100	
20		
<u>Social Functioning</u> = ((6 + 10) - 2)	Х	100
8		
$\underline{Role-Emotional} = ((5a+5b+5c) - 3)$	Х	100
3		
$\underline{Mental Health} = \underline{((9b+9c+9d+9f+9h) - 5)}$	Х	100
25		

5. Higher Scores = Better Health State. With these values and through statistical analysis we hope to be able to determine if this survey will assist the therapist in determining what treatment category to place a patient experiencing low back related symptoms into.

Subj	ect #			_ Treatment Group Classification A_	Ι	/	Ι	I
Sex	Μ	1	F		D_	Ι	/	Π
Age					K	Ι	/	Π

Scoring Sheet for the Oswestry and the MOS SF-36

A. SF-36 Formulas Worksheet		Raw Value	/ Transformed Value
Physical Functioning = (() - 10) 1	00 /	/
	20		
$\underline{\textbf{Role - Physical}} = \underline{(() - 4)}$	X 100_	/	
4			
Bodily Pain = $(() - 2)$	X 100_		/
10			
$\underline{\text{General Health}} = \underline{(() - 5)}$	X 100		/
20			
$\underline{Vitality} = (() - 4)$	X 100_		/
20			
Social Functioning = $(() - 2)$	<u>)</u> X 100		/
8			
<u>Role-Emotional</u> = (() - 3	<u>3)</u> X 100_		/
3			
$\underline{Mental Health} = \underline{(() - 5}$) X 100_		/
25			

B. Oswestry Formula Worksheet	Disability Level	
Oswestry by Section	Raw Score	Transformed Score
1. Pain Intensity		
2. Personal Care		
3. Lifting		
4. Walking		
5. Sitting		
6. Standing		
7. Sleeping		
8. Sex Life		
9. Social Life		
10. Traveling		
11. Total		

Appendix B

Predictability Equation for Treatment Stage Classification

Because there is a higher percentage of correct classification with the use of all the variables, the analysis and formula for discrimination included all of the variables in the equation.

The prediction equation to discriminate in Stage I versus Stage II, using all subscores of the Oswestry and the SF-36, is determined as:

D_{treatment classification 1 versus 11} = -.051 + Pain Intensity * (-.081) + Personal Care * (.003) + Lifting * (.010) + Walking * (-.009) + Sitting * (-.004) + Standing * (.006) + Sleeping * (-.013) + Sex Life (.014) + Social Life * (.010) + Traveling * (-.011) + Physical Functioning * (.013) + Role Physical * (.009) + Bodily Pain * (-.002) + General Health * (-.023) + Vitality * (-.001) + Social Functioning * (.012) + Role Emotional * (.000) + Mental Health * (.002)

Once a score is obtained then a treatment stage classification can be determined. If the score equals (+/-) one the treatment Stage would be I and (+/-) two equals Stage II.

To further classify into Stage Ia versus Stage Ib, the equation would be:

D_{treatment classification Ia versus Ib} = -.295 + Pain Intensity * (.007) + Personal Care * (.000) + Lifting * (.008) + Walking * (-.003) + Sitting * (.006) + Standing * (.005) + Sleeping * (.005) + Sex Life (.001) + Social Life * (.009) + Traveling * (-.001) + Physical

UNIVERSITY LIBRARY LOMA LINDA, CALIFORNIA

25

Functioning * (-.004) + Role Physical * (.005) + Bodily Pain * (-.006) + General Health * (.002) + Vitality * (.033) + Social Functioning * (-.022) + Role Emotional * (.014) + Mental Health * (-.030)

Once a score is obtained then a treatment stage classification can be determined. If the score equals (+/-) one the treatment Stage would be Ia and (+/-) two equals Stage Ib.